# GOVERNMENT NOTICES • GOEWERMENTSKENNISGEWINGS

# DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE, LAND REFORM AND RURAL DEVELOPMENT

NO. R. 6822

**12 November 2025** 

# GEOMATICS PROFESSION ACT, 2013 (ACT NO. 19 OF 2013)

# REGULATIONS IN TERMS OF THE GEOMATICS PROFESSION ACT, 2013

1, Mzwanele Nyhontso, Minister of Land Reform and Rural Development, have, in terms of section 31(1) of the Geomatics Profession Act, 2013 (Act No 19 of 2013) made the regulations as set out in the Schedule hereto.

NYHONTSO, M (MP)

MINISTER: LAND REFORM AND RURAL DEVELOPMENT

DATE:

10 8

#### **SCHEDULE**

#### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

- 1. Definitions
- 2. Disciplinary Tribunal
- 3. Lodgement of Complaint
- 4. Summons and Subpoena
- 5. Fines
- 6. Hearing of Complaints by Tribunal
- 7. Criteria for appointment of Investigation Officers
- 8. Removal of a member of the Council
- 9. Nomination of member of Council and Appeal Board
- 10. Committees of Council
- 11. Education and Training committee
- 12. Maintenance of records for registered persons
- 13. Requirements for continued professional development
- 14. Appeal Procedure

#### **Definitions**

- 1. In these regulations, a word or expression to which a meaning has been assigned in the Act bears that meaning and, unless the context otherwise indicates –
- "Act" means the Geomatics Profession Act, 2013 (Act No 19 of 2013).
- "Continued Professional Development (CPD)" means a programme designed to assist professionals to develop their academic and professional skills beyond their initial training on an ongoing basis.
- "Education and Training Committee" means the committee established in terms of section 6 (2) of the Act;
- "Investigating officer" means one or more investigating officers appointed by the Council in terms of section 20 (1) of the Act, to investigate a charge of improper conduct;

"Tribunal" means the Disciplinary Tribunal established by section 22 of the Act.

## **Disciplinary Tribunal**

- **2.** (1) The disciplinary tribunal contemplated in section 22(1) of the Act shall consist of a Chairperson and four other members, all of whom shall be appointed under section 22 of the Act.
- (2) The Tribunal shall inquire into any complaint regarding professional conduct of a practitioner referred to it by the Registrar whether such alleged conduct took place before or after the commencement of these Regulations.

## Lodgement of complaint

- (1) A complaint shall be lodged in writing with the Registrar setting out in detail the acts or omissions complained of by the complainant against the registered person.
  - (2) The complaint will be transmitted to the Council for consideration of the allegation and to prepare a charge sheet.
  - (3) The charge sheet setting out the details and nature of the charge will be delivered to the registered person to admit or deny the charge, in writing.
  - (4) If the registered person denies or admits a charge where a sanction comtemplated in section 24(4)(c) and (d) may be imposed in respect of such charge the Registrar shall transmit the complaint to the council.
  - (5) Upon receipt of the registered person's denial or admission of the charge in terms of subregulation (4) the council must appoint the tribunal to hear the matter.
  - (3) The Tribunal may in writing require a complainant to verify his or her complaint by affidavit and to provide such further information and documents relating to the complaint.
  - (4) A complaint once transmitted to the Tribunal, it shall not be with-drawn without leave of the Tribunal.

#### Summons or Subpoena

- 4. (1) (a) A summons contemplated in section 23(2) of the Act must be in the form that substantially corresponds with **Form 5.1 A** of these regulations.
  - (b) A subpoena contemplated in section 23(2) of the Act must be in the form that substantially corresponds with **Form 5.1 B** of these regulations

- (2) The summons or subpoena shall, among other things, contain the following: -
  - (a) full particulars of the person charged; and
  - (a) sufficient particulars of the alleged improper conduct to enable the person facing the charges to prepare for the hearing.

#### **Fines**

- 5. (1) The disciplinary tribunal may, in terms of section 24(4)(b) of the Act impose a fine not exceeding R50 000 (fifty thousand rand).
  - (2) A fine imposed by the disciplinary tribunal may, on appeal, be confirmed, varied or set aside by the Appeal Board established in terms of section 25(1) of the Act.

#### Hearing of complaints by Tribunal.

- 6. (1) The Tribunal shall conduct its hearing in private and shall permit the registered person to be represented by another or a legal practitioner, if he or she so wishes.
  - (2) If either the Council or the registered person fails to appear at the hearing the Tribunal may, upon proof of service of the notice of hearing, proceed to hear and determine the complaint in his or her absence.
  - (3) The Council and the registered person shall both be afforded the opportunity of adducing evidence relevant to the subject-matter of the inquiry, cross-examining each other's witnesses and making submissions to the Tribunal.
  - (4) The Tribunal may administer oaths, adjourn the hearing on such terms as to costs as it may deem fit, permit amendments to be made and may cause a electronic or mechanical device to be made of the proceedings of any matter before it.
  - (5) The Tribunal shall apply the same laws as to the admissibility of evidence and the competency, examination and cross-examination of witnesses as are applied by the South African courts.
  - (7) The tribunal must within 30 days after conclusion of the hearing issue a written decision that outlines the facts of the case, the legal principles applied, and the reasons for the majority's conclusion. (section 24)

## Criteria for appointment of investigating officers

- 7. In appointing an investigating officer in terms of section 20 (1) of the Act, the Council shall ensure that the person appointed meets one or more of the following requirements:
  - (a) registration in terms of the Act;
  - (b) more than three years as an admitted Advocate or Attorney:
  - (c) knowledge of matters concerning the alleged improper conduct;
  - (d) suitable qualifications according to the needs and requirements of the Council at the time when the cause of action arose.

#### Removal of member from the Council

- 8. (1) The Minister may in terms of section 5 (4) of the Act remove a Council member from office on the grounds of misconduct or incompetence upon receipt of a written complaint from:-
  - (a) the Council;
  - (b) a member of the public;
  - (c) any organisation
  - (d) any registered person of the geomatics profession.
- (2) The Minister shall, within 30 days from the date of receipt of the written complaint-
  - (a) appoint a suitably qualified person to conduct an investigation and submit a report to the Minister; and
  - (b) request written representation from the Council and the member concerned.
- (3) The Minister shall within 60 days after receipt of the report referred to in subregulation (2)(a) and having considered representations referred to in subregulation (2)(b)-
  - (a) make a decision on the complaint; and
  - (b) inform the member, the Council and the complainant in writing of the decision.
- (4) The Minister's decision referred to in sub-regulation (3)(a) shall be forwarded to the member concerned by registered or electronic mail.

## Nomination of members of Council and Appeal Board

- (1) The Minister must, before the expiry of the term of office of the Council, by notice in the Gazette, invite written nominations of persons to serve as members of the Council.
  - (2) The Director-General and the Director-General of the Department of Mineral Resources must, as required under sub-regulation (1) nominate Geomatics Professionals in the employ of the State for purposes of section 4(1)(a)(ii) and (iii).
  - (3) Any person making a nomination of a nominee to serve as the member of the Council shall nominate such persons using **Form 4**.
  - (4) The Minister must appoint the persons to serve as the Appeal Board members of South African Geomatics Council in terms of sub-regulation (2).
  - (5) Any person making a nomination of a nominee to serve as the Appeal Board member of the Council must nominate such person as prescribed in **Form 3**.

#### **Committees of Council**

- **10. (**1) The Council may—
  - (a) establish one or more committees, consisting of-
    - (i) members of the Council only; or
    - (ii) members of the Council and any other suitable persons except employees of the Council, to assist the Council in the exercise of its powers and performance of its functions; and
  - (b) The Council may, on good cause shown, remove or replace any member of the Committee.
- (2) The Council— -

- (a) must determine the powers and functions of a committee.
- (b) must appoint a member of a committee as chairperson of such committee.
- (c) may, after complying with due process of law, remove a member of a committee at any time; and
- (d) may determine a committee's procedure.
- (3) The Council must, in the rules, determine the procedure for the conduct of meetings of a committee.

# **Education and Training committee**

- 11. (1) The Education and Training Committee as contemplated in section 6(2) of the Act is hereby established.
  - (2) The Education and Training Committee shall comprise at least eight r but not more than 10 members of whom-
    - (a) at least one (1) person must be nominated in terms of section 4(1)(c) of the Act, representing the interests of higher education;
    - (b) one person must be nominated in terms of section 4 (1) (d) of the Act, representing the interests of the public.
    - (c) All categories of the geomatics profession must be reprepresented
  - (3) The Council shall within 14 days of nominations, appoint members to the Education and Training Committee.
  - (4) The Council may, on good cause shown, remove or replace any member of the Education and Training Committee.

#### Maintenance of records for registered persons

- **12.** (1) The Council must keep and maintain a register of registered persons in terms of their branches and categories.
- (2) Registration with the Council should be granted, kept, and maintained in terms of the following categories of the Geomatics Profession:

- (a) Geomatics Professionals (GPr)
- (b) Geomatics Technologists (GTg)
- (c) Geomatics Technicians (GTc)
- (d) Candidate Geomatics Practitioners
- (3) The records of registered persons must be open for inspection by the public and made accessible on Council website freely and a hotline/tollfree number should be allocated to the record centre, for providing customer service and support for those who cannot access the Council website.
- (4) The Council must allow the public to verify the registration status of the registered persons and identify qualified practitioners within the geomatics profession.
- (5) The records must provide at least the category and branch of the registered persons, including the practice number, address, contact number, surname and initials.
- (6) The Council must regularly update records of registered persons when a member is removed and or a new member is added to the register.
- (7) The Council must keep a list of persons removed from the register and provide reasons for such removal.
- (8) By maintaining a comprehensive and accurate register of practitioners, the Council helps to protect the public interest by ensuring that only qualified individuals are practicing geomatics.

#### Requirements for continued professional development

- 13. (1) It is generally required that:
  - (a) The continued professional development (CPD) system functions in cycles of five years.
  - (b) The five-year cycle of each registered person commences on the 1<sup>st</sup> June immediately following the date of first registration on which such registered person was registered by the Council.
  - (c) Where a person is registered in more than one branch or category

or has upgraded to a higher category, the commencement date applicable to the first registration will be recorded as the date on which such person's five-year cycle commences.

- (2) The council must make rules on CPD activities under the following categories:
  - (a) Category 1: development activities
  - (b) Category 2: work-based activities
  - (c) Category 3: individual Activities
- (3) The credits requirements for geomatics profession under the category of Geomatics Professionals (GPr) and Geomatics Technologists (GTg) are the following:
  - (a) During each cycle of five years any registered professional or technologist must collect a minimum of 20 credits in order to qualify for continued registration.
  - (c) A registered professional or technologist may not accumulate less than 3 credits per annum in at least two of the categories of activities and may accumulate additional credits each year up to a maximum number of credits in each activity as prescribed in the CPD rules of the Council.
  - (c) Every registered professional and technologist must obtain at least one credit in ethics related training during every five-year cycle.
- (4) The credits requirements for geomatics profession under the category of Geomatics Technicians (GTc) are the following:
  - (a) During each cycle of five years every registered technician must accumulate a minimum of 13 credits in order to qualify for continued registration.
  - (b) A registered technician may not accumulate less than 2 credits per annum in at least two of the categories of activities and may accumulate additional credits each year up to a maximum number of credits in each activity as prescribed in the CPD rules of the Council.
  - (d) Every registered technician must obtain at least one credit in ethics related training during every five-year cycle.

(5) Council must determine the number of CPD points to be allocated for each activity performed by registered persons.

## **Appeal Procedure**

- 14. (1) In discharging its duties diligently the Appeal Board shall, in terms of section 26 (6), hear appeals and deliver its finding within sixty (60) days after the appellant has lodged an appeal in terms of section 28 (2) (a);
- (2) The hearing of appeal proceedings shall be recorded by means of an electronic or mechanical device;
- (3) In hearing the appeal proceedings, the Appeal Board must, among other things, consider the following:
  - (a) notice of the disciplinary hearing;
  - (b) appointment of chair of disciplinary hearing;
  - (c) description of the allegations of misconduct (charge sheet);
  - (d) description of the main evidence which the appellant and the complainant relied upon;
  - (e) electronic or transcribed record, where applicable, of the proceedings of hearing by the Disciplinary Tribunal;
  - aggravating or mitigating circumstances presented by the parties to a Disciplinary Tribunal
  - (g) written finding, and reasons for the finding of the chairperson of the Disciplinary Tribunal;
  - (h) all other documentation and particulars relevant to the case in question.
  - (i) whether the appellant was given adequate time to prepare for the disciplinary hearing in terms section 23;
  - (j) whether the appellant in terms section 28 (1) (b) and/ or (c) was given adequate time for the hearing of his or her grievance or objection; and
  - (k) adopted minutes of the Council where the appeal is in terms of section 28 (1) (b) or (c).

# **NOMINATION FORM 3**

# NOMINATION OF PERSONS TO SERVE ON THE APPEAL BOARD OF THE SOUTH AFRICAN GEOMATICS COUNCIL (SAGC)

SECTION A: TO BE COMPLETED BY THE NOMINATOR (Note: Only one nomination per Namination Form)									
PARTICULARS OF NON	INATOR								
Full Names									
Identity No									
Capacity & Institution									
Postal Address									
Tel No		3.							
Mobile									
E-mail									
DECLARATION BY NO.									
GATEGORY	MEMBER	ALTERNATE							
REGISTERED PERSONS WHO HAVE BEEN PRACTICING OR TEACHING GEOMATICS FOR A PERIOD NOT LESS THAN 5 YEARS	Section 25(2)(a)	Section 4(7)							
MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC INCLUDING A PERSON QUALIFIED IN LAW (WITH AT LEAST 5 YEARS EXPERIENCE)	Section 25(2)(b)	Section 4(7)							

t. Us a consideration	ال ۱۴۰ م	lo o com							
I, the undersig	inea (tuli	names)				9			
hereby nomin South African by the Ministe South African Minister on his	citizen, a r of Land Geomat	ind resider Reform ai ics Counc	nt in South , nd Rural De il for a perio	Africa, to evelopmed od of fou	ent as o or (4) ye	a mem	ber of the	e Appeal	Board of
Signed on at			on the		_ day	of			
			·						
Signature									
MOTIVATION (	BY NOMIN	NATOR (no	t exceedin	g one po	ige)				
			N STORE	H PLE	0000			12 12	
				)					
			a de la companya de l						
				`					*

SECTION B	: ACCEPTA	NCE DECL	ARATION	V BY	THE N	OMINE				
Identity nur appointme of the appo African citiz authorize th in terms of t requiremen	en, and resid ne Departmei his appointm	inee) omatics Apple Minister dent in Soutl ant of Land F ent and to	oeal Boa of Land F n Africa, Reform a investiga	rd o Refo to se nd F ate o	of the SA orm and erve on Rural De any reco	GC for Rural De the Geo evelopm ord in rel	he a perion evelor omation lation	ereby according of four coment. It is a Appear subject to such a	ir (4) years fr declare tho al Board of ti me to the se disqualificati	om the date at I am a South he SAGC. I ecurity vetting on or
Signature			1,							
T'11 -	Drof					Mr		∕Irs	Ms	Miss
Title	Prof	D				IVII	IN	NIS	1015	1//122
Surname First Name				_						
Gender	Male	F4	emale		Pace					
Disability	Yes	N			Nature of Disability					
Date of Birl	h				ID <sup>®</sup> No					
Postal Add										
				1						
				- 1						
Residential	Address				W.					1
Mobile No										
Work Tel No										
Home Tel N	lo									

Fax No	
E-mail Address	

## PLEASE ATTACH A SHORT CURRICULUM VITAE OF THE NOMINEE

Please list the following in the CV (not exceeding two pages)

- Tertiary Education
- Work experience
- List of competencies
- Professional qualifications and Registrations (where applicable)
- Directorships
- Boards of Entities / Professional Councils / Institutions that nominee currently and / or previously served on
- Conflicts of Interest
- References
- Certified copies of nominee's qualification
- Certified copy of ID (both nominator and nominee)

#### NOTE:

- Nominees will be considered only after the verification of their academic qualifications and their personal details;
- Appointment is subject to approval by the Minister;
- Appointment is subject to the acceptance of undergoing security vetting;
- Correspondence will be limited to short-listed candidates. If you do not receive any communication after a period of three months, please consider the application as having been unsuccessful

#### Disclaimers:

- The Minister reserves the right to amend, modify or withdraw this
  advertisement or amend any of the requirements set out herein at any time
  without prior notice and without liability to compensate or reimburse any party;
- Acknowledgement of the nomination does not mean acceptance as candidate;
- The Minister reserves the right not to select any nominee as a candidate.
- Failure to comply with any of the above requirements will result in the nomination not being considered.

# **NOMINATION FORM 4**

# NOMINATION FOR PERSONS TO SERVE ON THE SOUTH AFRICAN GEOMATICS COUNCIL (SAGC)

SECTION A: TO BE COMPLETED BY I (Note: Only one nomination per Nomination F PARTICULARS OF NOMINATOR	the part of the first of the fi	
Full Names		
Identity No		
Capacity & Institution		
Postal Address		
Tel No		
Mobile		
E-mail .		
CATEGORIES OF APPOINTMENT lick the box to select the required category	v	
Category	Member	Alternate member
Geomatics Practitioners not in the	Section 4(1)(b)(i) of	Section 4(7)(a) of
employ of the State	Act No. 19:0f 2013	Act No.19 of 2013
Geomatics Practitioners representing	Section 4(1)(b)(ii) of	Section 4(7)(a) of
voluntary associations	Act No. 19 of 2013	Act No.19 of 2013
Person nominated by the Council on	Section 4(1)(c) of	Section 4(7)(a) of
Higher Education	Act No. 19 of 2013	Act No.19 of 2013
Persons representing the interest of	Section 4(1)(d) of	Section 4(7)(a) of
the public	Act No. 19 of 2013	Act No.19 of 2013

I, the undersigned (full names)	)		
by the Minister of Land Reform	dent in South Africa, to be n and Rural development od of four (4) years as may	e considered for possible appo as a member of the South Afri y be determine by the Minister	can
Signed on at 20	on the	day of	
Signature			
MOTIVATION BY NOMINATOR (	not exceeding one page		

SECTIO	ON B:	ACCE	PTAN	CE DEC	LARATION I	BY THE NO	OMINEE				
nomine appoin appoin African Develo	ee) itment t itment l citizen pment	to the s by the and re to subj	South A Ministe esident ject m	African er of Lar t in Sout e to the	nd Reform a h Africa. I au	Council fo nd Rural D Uthorize th	he r a period evelopme e Departr ns of this	ereby ac l of four ( ent. I de nent of L	4) years fro clare that and Refor	omination for om the date of lam a South mand Rural of investigate of the control	
Signed	at				on the	·	day of			20	
Signatu	re										
SECTION	V C: TO	BE CO	MPLET	ED BY TH	IE NOMINEE						
Title	Prof		Dr		Adv		Mr	Mrs	Ms	Miss	
Surnam	ne										1,
First Na	mes					16					
Gende	•	Male	∍ Fe	emale		Race					
Disabili	ły	Yes	N	0		Nature of Disability					
Date of						ID NO.					
Postal A	Address	S									
Residen Address											
Mobile I	No										
Work Te	l No										
Home Te	el No										
Fax No											
-mail A	ddress										

#### PLEASE ATTACH A SHORT CURRICULUM VITAE OF THE NOMINEE

Please list the following in the CV (not exceeding two pages)

- Tertiary Education
- Work experience
- List of competencies
- Professional qualifications and Registrations (where applicable)
- Directorships, if any
- Boards of Entities / Professional Councils / Institutions that nominee currently and / or previously served on
- Conflicts of Interest
- References
- Certified copies of nominee's qualifications
- Certified copy of ID (both nominator and nominee)

#### NOTE:

- Nominees will be considered only after the verification of their academic qualifications and their personal details;
- Appointment is subject to approval by the Minister;
- Appointment is subject to the acceptance of undergoing security vetting;
- Correspondence will be limited to short-listed candidates. If you do not receive any communication after a period of three months, please consider the application as having been unsuccessful

# **Disclaimers:**

- The Minister reserves the right to amend, modify or withdraw this advertisement or amend any of the requirements set out herein at any time without prior notice and without liability to compensate or reimburse any party;
- Acknowledgement of the nomination does not mean acceptance as a candidate;
- The Minister reserves the right not to select any nominee as a candidate.
- Failure to comply with any of the above requirements will result in the nomination not being considered.

# SUMMONS TO APPEAR BEFORE THE DISCIPLINARY TRIBUNAL FORM 5.1 A

(Signed by the Chairpers	on of the tribunal/ memb	per of tribunal council)	(Date)
Full name of the person is:	suing the summons:		
ionowing address. South A	P.O.Box752799  Garden-View 2047	CII	
Please note that all the national following address: South A			be served or be obtained at the
(Date of the I	nearing)	(Time of the	e hearing)
On	at	(Time of the	
<del>2</del>	(Address where the he	earing is being held)	
disciplinary tribunal at			
•	• •		19 of 2013 to appear before the
2.1.			
Alternative Charge			
•			
omitted or committed the  1. Charge 1	ioliowing:		
a	t/or near		le the Republic of South Africa you
You are charged with the	improper conduct for contr	avening the following rule:	in that on or/about
Physical Address:			
Registration number	:		
Registration Category	3		
Contact details	£		
The person charged with further particulars are as			whose full and
5	3-1		<del></del>
	ged with improper conduc	t	
And	Godnen		
South African Geomatics	: Council		
In the matter between:			

# SUBPOENA TO APPEAR BEFORE THE DISCIPLINARY TRIBUNAL FORM 5.1 B

In the matter between:	
South African Geomatics Council	
And	
Name of the person charged with imp	proper conduct
The person subpoenaed before the di	isciplinary tribunal is Mr/Ms
Contact details:	
Registration Category:	
Registration number:	
You are required in terms of section 23	3(2) of the Geomatics Profession Act 19 of 2013 to appear
(Address	where the hearing is being held)
On	at(Time of the hearing)
(Date of the hearing)	(Time of the hearing)
Please note that all the notices, corresponding at the following address 6	pondences and any legal process may be served or be
obtained at the following address: <b>Sou</b> P O	th African Geomatics Council Box 752799
	den View
ou are subpoenaed: For questioning in terms of section	n 22/2)/a)/i). or
To produce any book, document or	r object in terms of section 23(2)(a)(ii)
Tick/Mark the appropriate box]	
Ou must bring and produce a healt de	
ou must bring and produce a book, do	cument or object listed below:
ıll name of the person issuing the subp	ooena:
Signed by the Chairperson/member of	of the tribunal) (Date)